
 

DISTRICT BOARD  

Megan Clark 

Rabi Elias 

Russ Greenfield 

Craig K. Murray 

Judy Schriebman 

 

DISTRICT ADMINISTRATION 

Chris DeGabriele,  
Interim General Manager 

Michael Cortez,  
District Engineer 

Mel Liebmann, 

Plant Manager 

Susan McGuire,  
Administrative Services Manager 

Greg Pease,  
Collection System/Safety Manager 

 

 

  
 
300 Smith Ranch Road  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  www.lgvsd.org 

The Mission of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is to 
protect public health and the environment by providing effective 
wastewater collection, treatment, and recycling services. 

BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

August 23, 2018    4:30 PM 

MATERIALS RELATED TO ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA ARE AVAILABLE FOR 

PUBLIC INSPECTION DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS AT THE DISTRICT 

OFFICE, 300 SMITH RANCH ROAD, SAN RAFAEL, OR ON THE DISTRICT 

WEBSITE  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

NOTE:  Final board action may be taken on any matter appearing on agenda. 

1.  PUBLIC COMMENT 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on matters not on 
the agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are 
generally limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in 
writing and/or placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the 
meeting. 

2. CONSENT CALENDAR: 

These items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion  
unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the staff or the Board. 

A. Approve the Board Minutes for July 26, 2018. 

B. Approve the Warrant List for August 9 and August 23, 2018. 

C. Approve Board Compensation for July 2018. 

D. Approve Core Utilities, Inc. Contract Proposal for July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019 for Information 
Technology Support and Maintenance for Administrative and SCADA Purposes. 

E. Approve Award of Contract for Sewer Main Rehabilitation 2018 to K.J. Woods Construction Inc. 

F. Approve Award of Contract for Plant Improvements 2018 to Gregory Equipment Inc. 

G. Approve Biogas Energy Recovery System (BERS) Dedication. 

H. Approve Resolution 2018-2136 – A Resolution Confirming the Report on Sewer Service Charges 

 for the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District For the Fiscal Year 2018-19. 

I. Approve Resolution 2018-2137 – A Resolution Adopting a Conflict of Interest Code for the Las 
Gallinas Valley Sanitary District and LGVSD Conflict of Interest Code Biennial Update including 
memo from District Counsel. 

J. Approve Resolution 2018-2138 – A Resolution Approving Policies for Board Policy  

B-50: Training/Conference/Seminars/Travel/Meals. 

K. Approve Application of Allocation of Capacity for APN 180-171-29, 800 Upper Road. 

L. Approve Amendment 2 to ArcSine Engineering for Additional Redesign and Rebidding Services for 
the Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade and Recycled Water Expansion Project. 

Possible expenditure of funds:  Yes, Items B through L. 

3:30 PM 

Estimated 
Time 

4:30 PM 

4:35 PM 
 



August 23, 2018 Page 2 of 3 
  

  

  
 
300 Smith Ranch Road  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  www.lgvsd.org 

Staff recommendation:  Adopt Consent Calendar – Items A through L. 

 
3. ACTION CALENDAR: 

A. Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District GASB 75 Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 

 

4. INFORMATION ITEMS: 
A. STAFF/CONSULTANT REPORTS: 

1. Interim General Manager Report – Verbal 

2. Collection Department Quarterly Report – Written  

3. Monthly Treasurer’s Report – Written 

4. General Manager Recruitment Brochure – Written 

B. BOARD REPORTS: 

1. Human Resources Subcommittee – Verbal 

2. LAFCO - Verbal 

3. Gallinas Watershed Council / Miller Creek Watershed Council– Verbal 

4. JPA Local Task Force on Solid and Hazardous Waste – Verbal 

5. NBWA – Verbal  

6. NBWRA/North Bay Water – Verbal  

7. Engineering Subcommittee – Verbal 

8. Other Reports – Verbal and Written – CASA Air, Climage Change and Energy Workgroup 
Meeting 

 

5. BOARD REQUESTS: 
A. Board Meeting Attendance Requests – Verbal and Written -  Murray – CASA Asset Management 

Meeting – September 18, 2018 – Martinez, California. 

B. Board Agenda Item Requests – Verbal 
 

6. VARIOUS ARTICLES and MISCELLANEOUS DISTRICT CORRESPONDENCE 
 
 

7. ADJOURNMENT 

 

CERTIFICATION:  I, Teresa Lerch, District Secretary of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, hereby 
declare under penalty of perjury that on or before August 20, 2018, at 4:30 p.m., I posted the Agenda for 
the Board Meeting of said Board to be held August 23, 2018, at the District Office, located at 300 Smith 
Ranch Road, San Rafael, CA. 

DATED: August 20, 2018 
 

 
_______________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch 
District Secretary 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA APPROVED: Megan Clark, Board President David Byers, Legal Counsel 

5:30 PM 
 

6:00 PM 
 

6:10 PM 
 

6:05 PM 
 

5:10 PM 



August 23, 2018 Page 3 of 3 
  

  

  
 
300 Smith Ranch Road  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  www.lgvsd.org 

 
  ________________________________________________________________  

The Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District meets regularly on the second and fourth Thursday of  
each month. The District may also schedule additional special meetings for the purpose of completing unfinished 
business and/or study session. Regular meetings are held at the District Office, 300 Smith Ranch Road,  
San Rafael. 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, 
please contact the District at (415) 472-1734 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. Notification  
prior to the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable accommodation to help ensure accessibility  
to this meeting. 
 

 



Meeting Minutes Page 1 of 3 July 26, 2018 

MINUTES OF JULY 26, 2018 1 
2 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT MET IN OPEN 3 
SESSION ON JULY 26, 2018, AT 4:30 PM,  AT THE DISTRICT OFFICE, 300 SMITH RANCH ROAD, 4 
SAN RAFAEL, CALIFORNIA. 5 
 6 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: M. Clark, R. Elias, R. Greenfield, C. Murray and J. 7 

Schriebman 8 
 9 
BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT: None.10 
 11 
STAFF PRESENT: Chris DeGabriele, Interim General Manager; Mike 12 

 Cortez, District Engineer; Teresa Lerch, District Secretary 13 
Susan McGuire, District Treasurer 14 

 15 
OTHERS PRESENT: David Byers, District Counsel 16 

17 
ANNOUNCEMENT: President Clark announced that the agenda had been 18 

posted as evidenced by the certification on file in 19 
accordance with the law 20 

 21 
PUBLIC COMMENT:  None. 22 

23 
 24 
2017/18 FINANCIAL AUDIT PLANNING DISCUSSION 25 
John Cropper, CPA of Cropper Accountancy discussed the upcoming annual financial audit. 26 
Discussion ensued. 27 
 28 
REVIEW BOARD POLICY B-50 TRAINING/CONFERENCE/SEMINARS TRAVEL 29 
District Counsel and Board discussed Board Policy B-50 Training/Conference/Seminars/Travel. 30 
Discussion ensued. 31 
 32 
ACTION: 33 
Board approved (M/S Clark/Schriebman 4-1-0-0) Revising Board Policy B-50-10 deleting the words “In 34 
General” and adding additional language stating “The Board may vote to allow a Member to exceed this 35 
limitation of four (4) conferences or seminars prior to that Member’s attendance at the event. Any 36 
conference or seminar that a Board Member attends that is two days or longer shall be included in the 37 
four (4) conference or seminar limit.” The changes will be incorporated into a Resolution and brought 38 
back to the Board on the next agenda. 39 

  AYES: Clark, Elias, Murray and Schriebman. 40 
NOES: Greenfield.41 
ABSENT:  None. 42 
ABSTAIN: None.43 

 44 
CONSENT CALENDAR:  45 
These items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion unless a request for 46 
removal for discussion or explanation is received from the staff or the Board. 47 

A. Approve the Board Minutes for July 12, 2018. 48 
B. Approve the Warrant List for July 26, 2018. 49 
C. Approve Board Compensation for June 2018. 50 
D. Approve Award of Contract for Sewer Main Rehabilitation 2018. 51 
E. Approve Award of Contract for  Towable 4” & 8” Emergency Pumps to Pac Machine Company. 52 
F. Approve Pre-Purchase of Replacement Parts for Grit Classifiers and Resolution 2018-2135. 53 
G. Approve Craig Murray attending the Biowest 2018 Conference Sept 9 -12, 2018 in Chelan, Washington 54 

and the International Water Conference November 4-8, 2018 in Scottsdale, Arizona. 55 
56 

Agenda item 2A
August 23, 2018

2A.1



Meeting Minutes Page 2 of 3 July 26, 2018 

Item D was pulled by Staff. 57 
 58 
ACTION: 59 
Board approved (M/S Murray/Clark 5-0-0-0) the Consent Calendar Items A-C and E-G. 60 

  AYES: Clark, Elias, Greenfield, Murray and Schriebman. 61 
NOES: None.62 
ABSENT:  None. 63 
ABSTAIN: None.64 

 65 
ACTION CALENDAR: 66 

67 
B. Draft Recruitment Brochure. Josh Jones from CPS HR Consulting telephoned into the 68 

meeting. Discussion ensued.  69 

 70 
ACTION: 71 
Board approved (M/S Schriebman/Clark 5-0-0-0) the Draft Recruitment Brochure with changes requested 72 
by the Board.  73 

 AYES: Clark, Elias, Greenfield, Murray and Schriebman. 74 
     NOES: None.  75 
    ABSENT:  None. 76 
    ABSTAIN: None. 77 

78 
A. Set Special Meeting Dates for Strategic Plan Update. 79 

80 
ACTION: 81 
Board approved (M/S Schriebman/Elias 5-0-0-0) setting Special Board Meetings for the Strategic Plan 82 
Update on August 24, September 14 and September 28, 2018. 83 

  AYES: Clark, Elias, Greenfield, Murray and Schriebman. 84 
  NOES: None.  85 
  ABSENT:  None. 86 
  ABSTAIN: None. 87 

88 
C. Approve Call for Bids – Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade and Recycled Water Expansion. 89 

90 
ACTION: 91 
Board approved (M/S Elias/Murray 5-0-0-0) Call for Bids for the Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade and 92 
Recycled Water Expansion project (aka Novato South Service Area/LGVSD-MMWD Recycled Water 93 
Project) 94 

  AYES: Clark, Elias, Greenfield, Murray and Schriebman. 95 
  NOES: None.  96 
  ABSENT:  None. 97 
  ABSTAIN: None. 98 

 99 
INFORMATION ITEMS: 100 
STAFF / CONSULTANT REPORTS: 101 

1. Interim General Manager Report – Verbal – DeGabriele reported.102 
2. Administration Department Quarterly Report – Written – McGuire reported.103 
3. Engineering Department Quarterly Report – Written – No discussion.104 
4. Operations Department Quarterly Report – Written – No discussion.105 

 106 
Byers left at 7:30 p.m. 107 
Cortez left at 7:31 p.m. 108 
 109 
Due to lack of time, the Board Reports were not discussed. 110 

111 

2A.2



Meeting Minutes Page 3 of 3 July 26, 2018 

BOARD REQUESTS: 112 
A. Board Meeting Attendance Requests – None. 113 
B. Board Agenda Item Requests – None. 114 

115 
VARIOUS ARTICLES AND MISCELLANEOUS DISTRICT CORRESPONDENCE: 116 
Discussion ensued.  117 
 118 
ADJOURNMENT: 119 
 120 
ACTION: 121 
Board approved (M/S Murray/Elias  5-0-0-0) the adjournment of the meeting at 7:35 p.m. 122 

AYES: Clark, Elias, Greenfield, Murray and Schriebman. 123 
NOES: None.124 
ABSENT:    None. 125 
ABSTAIN: None.126 

 127 
The next Board Meeting is scheduled for August 23, 2018 at the District Office. 128 
 129 
ATTEST: 130 

131 
 132 
_________________________________ 133 
Teresa Lerch, District Secretary 134 

135 
136 

 137 
APPROVED: 138 

139 
 140 
____________________________________        141 
Megan Clark, Board President 142 
 143 
SEAL 144 

2A.3



2B.1



2B.2



2B.3



2B.4



2C.1



2C.2



2C.3



2C.4



2C.5



2C.6



\\lgvsdsbs\xdr\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\Core Utilities IT Support and Maintenance Contract FY 2018-19.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report             

To: Chris DeGabriele, PE, Interim General Manager 

From: Susan McGuire, Administrative Services Manager and  
Mel Liebmann, Plant Manager 

Mtg. Date: August 23, 2018 

Re: Approve Core Utilities, Incorporated Contract Proposal for July 1, 2018 to June 
30, 2019 for Information Technology Support and Maintenance for Administrative 
and SCADA Purposes 

BACKGROUND: 
The District has utilized Core Utilities, Incorporated (Core) for its information technology support and 
maintenance services for the administrative server since 2011.  Core was chosen after soliciting proposals 
and interviewing three firms.  Staff provides support based on their technical abilities to solve simple 
problems and expedite trouble shooting when possible.  Core regularly visits the District for a few hours as 
needed and rapidly responds to emergencies early in the day, after hours and on weekends.  Core assists 
staff with evaluating hardware purchase for computer, printers and other peripheral equipment.  Core 
works in a technical capacity with outside software vendors such as City Works, the GIS software supplier, 
to help staff with the implementation of the products.  Core installed the new virtual servers in 2018 to 
support the administration server, GIS server, and SCADA server upgrades. Core has collaborated with 
ArcSine Engineering to support the design of the District’s Secondary Treatment and Recycled Water 
Facility Upgrade Project and they have been instrumental in assisting with the recent SCADA database 
improvements.  

The proposal for 2018-19 is estimated to be $2,880 per month (24 hours at $120/hour) or $34,560 for the 
fiscal year; the District is billed for actual time spent.  Staff is planning to replace four existing computers; 
acquiring a laptop for the new General Manager; and purchasing a new AutoCad machine for the 
engineering technician/inspector position. These acquisitions will require additional time to setup and 
install the computers.   The total cost incurred for 2017-18 were $27,925 at $120 per hour for a total of 
232.7 hours. 

Staff recommends utilizing Core to support the District’s administrative and SCADA computer workstations 
and servers as well as IT security and maintenance functions.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Board approve the Core Utilities, Inc. proposal for July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Not to exceed $34,560. 

PERSON TO BE NOTIFIED: 

Paul Smedshammer of Core Utilities Inc. 

Consent __________2D____ 

Staff/Consultant Reports ______________ 

Agenda Item ______________ 

    Date August 23, 2018

       SM
CD

ML

2D.1



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\Approve Award of Contract for Sewer Main Rehabilitation 2018 to KJ Woods.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report    

To: Chris DeGabriele, PE, Interim General Manager CD 

From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer MC  

Mtg. Date: August 23, 2018 

Re: Approve Award of Contract for Sewer Main Rehabilitation 2018 to K.J. Woods 
Construction Inc. 

BACKGROUND: 

On August 7, 2018, the District opened bids for the Sewer Main Rehabilitation 2018 project and K.J. 
Woods Construction Inc. of San Francisco is the sole bidder at $1,188,000. Staff has reviewed the set of 
bidding documents to determine if it was overly restrictive: i.e., if only one contractor could meet the 
requirements, however, staff found that the plans and specifications are typical for projects of this nature, 
and other contractors could have met the bidding requirements. 

Bid results: 
1. K.J. Woods Construction Inc. (San Francisco) $1,188,000 

The project provides for the following: 
• Rehabilitation of approximately 2,626 lineal feet of existing 6 and 8-inch sewer mains and trunk

sewers at the following locations: Beechnut Ct, Channing Way, Corrillo Dr, Garden Ave, John 
Duckett Pump Station, and Montecillo Rd. 

• Replacement of approximately 24 lower laterals.

This project requires construction management and inspection services, labor and payroll compliance 
services, permit fees, etc., estimated at approximately 10% of the total construction cost. Assuming an 
additional construction contingency of 10%, the estimated total project cost for the Sewer Main 
Rehabilitation 2018 project is $1.3M. The construction cost is within the budget allocation for Job No. 
19200-01 – Sewer Main Rehabilitation 2018 project shown in the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2018-2019 Budget adopted on June 14, 2018. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Board approve the Award of Contract to K.J. Woods Construction Inc. for the Sewer Main Rehabilitation 
2018 in the amount of $1,188,000. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
$1,188,000 

PERSON(S) TO BE NOTIFIED: 
K.J. Woods Construction Inc. 

Consent _______2E______ 

Staff/Consultant Reports ______________ 

Agenda Item ______________ 

Da  t e    August 23, 2018 

 
2E.1



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\Approve Award of Contract for Plant Improvements 2018 to GEI.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report    

To: Chris DeGabriele, PE, Interim General Manager CD 

From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer MC 

Mtg. Date: August 23, 2018 

Re: Approve Award of Contract for Plant Improvements 2018 to Gregory Equipment 
Inc. 

BACKGROUND: 

On August 1, 2018, the District opened bids for the Plant Improvements 2018 project and Gregory 
Equipment Inc. (GEI) of Redding is the apparent low bidder at $680,130 for the base bid and alternate bid 
items. Staff has evaluated the bids and found that GEI is a responsive and responsible bidder. 

Bid results: 
With Bid Alternates Without Bid Alternates 

1. Gregory Equipment Inc. (Redding) $680,130 $470,250 
2. Pacific Infrastructure Corp. (Pleasanton) $884,100 $544,100 

The base bid provides for the replacement of two grit centrifugal separators (hydrocyclones), installation of 
four new pumps for the grit classifier system, and miscellaneous piping and electrical modifications. In 
addition, the wire fall barrier on the grit platform will be replaced with aluminum guardrail to address safety 
concerns of operators. The bid alternates include the installation of one new progressive cavity sludge 
pump, modifications to the primary sludge digester inlet box piping, modifications to the headworks inlet 
box, and valve replacement in sludge pump room. 

Assuming an additional construction contingency of 10%, the estimated total project cost for the Plant 
Improvements 2018 project is approximately $748,000. This is higher than the current budget allocation of 
$279,000 shown in the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 2018-2019 Budget adopted on June 14, 2018. 
Funds will be re-allocated from other capital improvement projects to cover the budget overrun. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Board approve the Award of Contract to Gregory Equipment Inc. for the Plant Improvements 2018 in the 
amount of $680,130. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
$680,130 

PERSON(S) TO BE NOTIFIED: 
Gregory Equipment Inc. 

Consent __________2F____ 

Staff/Consultant Reports ______________ 

Agenda Item ______________ 

Da  t e    August 23, 2018 

 
2F.1



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\BERS Dedication.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report    

To: Chris DeGabriele, PE, Interim General Manager CD 

From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer MC 

Mtg. Date: August 23, 2018 

Re: Biogas Energy Recovery System (BERS) Dedication 

BACKGROUND: 

The District received two grants from the California Energy Commission (CEC) for its Biogas Energy 
Recovery System (BERS) Project. The grants have provided a total of $1,249,070 for the Project. Staff 
would like input from the Board on a dedication ceremony to celebrate the completion of the project along 
with the CEC and to show appreciation of CEC’s continued support in the BERS project. 

It is important to have an established date and time for planning and coordination purposes. Potential 
dates that are being considered for the event are either the 3rd or 17th of October 2018 prior to wet weather 
and expiration of the CEC Agreements.  

Staff will coordinate with the CEC and Board Members for an invitation list. Brochure, invitation card, press 
release, and plaque could be developed at the request of the Board and made available to the Board for 
review at a later date. However, due to the short time frame for planning and preparation, staff may or may 
not complete all items of a formal celebration event. The goal is to have a simple but presentable event to 
celebrate this accomplishment. The estimated budget for this event is $5,000. 

The menu for the event will consist of light refreshments and desserts. Parking will be available within the 
District parking lot and along the access road. A photographer will be onsite during the event to capture the 
moment for historical purposes. Highlight of the project will be in the next District newsletter. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Board approve a budget of $5,000 and establish a date for the BERS dedication event. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Estimated at $5,000. 

PERSON(S) TO BE NOTIFIED: 

N/A 

Consent _________2G_____ 

Staff/Consultant Reports ______________ 

Agenda Item ______________ 

Da  t e    August 23, 2018 

 
2G.1



Resolution 2018-2136  Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION No. 2018-2136 

A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE REPORT ON SEWER SERVICE CHARGES 
FOR THE LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2018-19 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 

 RESOLVED, by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin 

County, California that: 

WHEREAS, this Board did on June 14, 2018, pursuant to Health & Safety Code §5473, 

adopt its Resolution No 2018-2129, A Resolution Providing for the Collection of Sewer Service 

Charges on the Tax Roll, and did direct the preparation and filing of a written report containing a 

description of each parcel of real property receiving services and facilities from the District and 

the amount of service charge for each parcel for the fiscal year 2018-19. 

WHEREAS, said Board did on March 28, 2018 adopt its Resolution No. 2018-2117, A 

Resolution Fixing Time and Place for Public Hearing on Sewer Service Charge Rates for the 

Fiscal Year 2018-19 and Providing for Notice thereof where said Board did appoint the time and 

place of hearing protests to said report and directed notice; 

WHEREAS, notice was given of the time therein stated in the manner provided by law 

as appears by the affidavit of publication on file in the office of the Secretary of said District; 

WHEREAS, said matter came on regularly for hearing at the time fixed; and 

WHEREAS, all written protests and other written communications were publicly read at 

said meeting and all persons desiring to be heard were fully heard; and 

WHEREAS, said written report was prepared and will be filed with the Treasurer of said 

District on or before August 10, 2018. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED as follows: 

1. That objections to and protests, as required by Health and Safety Code §5473.2,

against said report were not made by the owners of a majority of the separate parcels or 

property described in the report against which charges for the services and facilities provided by 

the District were fixed. 

Agenda item 2H
August 23, 2018

2H.1



Resolution 2018-2136  Page 2 of 2 

2. That said report be, and it is hereby adopted in full without revision, change, reduction

or modification of any charge specified therein, and that said charges shall be collected on the 

tax roll of the County of Marin in the manner provided by law.   

3. That the Treasurer of this District be, and has filed with the County Auditor of Marin

County, on or before August 13, 2018, a copy of said report, upon which shall be endorsed over 

her signature a statement that the report had been fully adopted by the Sanitary Board of the 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. 

4. The County Auditor of Marin County shall, upon receipt of said report, enter the

amounts of the charges against the respective lots or parcels as they appear on the current 

assessment roll for the fiscal year 2018-19. 

5. The County Auditor of Marin County shall, in addition to the annual sewer service

charge, collect the County’s collection fee of $2 per parcel from each of the lots or parcels that 

appear on the current assessment roll for the fiscal year 2018-19. 

*     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     * 

I hereby certify that the forgoing is a full, true and correct copy of a resolution duly and regularly 

passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin 

County, California, at a meeting thereof held on August 23, 2018, by the following vote of the 

members thereof: 

AYES, and in the favor thereof, Members:  

NOES, Members:   

ABSENT, Members:   

ABSTAIN, Members: 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch, District Secretary 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

APPROVED: (SEAL) 

____________________________________ 
Megan Clark, Board President 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

2H.2



2I.1



2I.2



2I.3



2I.4



2I.5



2I.6



2I.7



2I.8



2I.9



2I.10



2I.11



2I.12



2I.13



2I.14



2I.15



2I.16



2I.17



2I.18



2I.19



2I.20



2I.21



 
2J.1



 
2J.2



 
2J.3



 
2J.4



 
2J.5



 
2J.6



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\Application of Allocation of Capacity for APN 180-171-29, 800 Upper Road.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report    

To: Chris DeGabriele, Interim General Manager CD 

From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer MC 

Mtg. Date: August 23, 2018 

Re: Application of Allocation of Capacity for APN 180-171-29, 800 Upper Road 

BACKGROUND: 

The property owner of 800 Upper Road plans to construct a new 3,241 SF single family residence. The 
new building is 3-story and has 44 plumbing fixture units (PFU) per information submitted to LGVSD. 
Based on this information, a Will Serve Letter has been drafted and a connection fee of $6,056 has been 
assessed for a single family residence. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Board approve the Application for Allocation and issuance of a Will Serve Letter to 800 Upper Road. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Connection fee revenue of $6,056. 

PERSON(S) TO BE NOTIFIED: 

Property Owner 

Consent ______2K________ 

Staff/Consultant Reports ______________ 

Agenda Item ______________ 

Da  t e    August 23, 2018 

2K.1



 

DISTRICT BOARD  

Megan Clark 

Rabi Elias  

Russ Greenfield 

Craig K. Murray 

Judy Schriebman 

DISTRICT ADMINISTRATION 

Chris DeGabriele,  
Interim General Manager 

Michael Cortez,  
District Engineer 
Mel Liebmann,  
Plant Manager  
Susan McGuire,  
Administrative Services Manager 
Greg Pease,  
Collection System/Safety Manager 

 

1 

300 Smith Ranch Road  • San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472-1734  •  Fax 415.499-7715  •  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

Date:    August 23, 2018 
 
Property Owner:  John Sarter 
 
Property Owner Address: 3 Grand Court 

San Rafael, CA 94901 
 

Applicant:   John Sarter 
        
Project Name:   Sarter Residence 
    
Project Address:  800 Upper Road 
    San Rafael, CA 94903 
 
Project APN:   APN 180-171-29 
 
Re: Will–Serve Letter 
 
You have requested a Will–Serve Letter from the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (“LGVSD”) on 
the August 23, 2018 Board Meeting. 
 
Subject to the terms and conditions in this letter, LGVSD will serve the project with the equivalent of 
dwelling unit capacity (EDU) of 1, or the equivalent to 200 gallons per day.  This letter may be used to 
submit to another local agency to satisfy a condition for either tentative subdivision map approval or any 
other permit approval. 
 
The standard terms and conditions of approval are as follows: 
 
Initial Item Condition of Approval 
 1 You pay for the facility capacity fee (new connection fee) in accordance with 

LGVSD ordinances and policies.  Please note payment date obligation and amount 
obligation. 

 2 You agree to abide by all conditions of approval of the Board of Directors. 
 3 This Will Serve approval terminates three (3) years from the Board meeting date 

unless all building permits have been issued for the project. 
 4 After the lateral inspection is completed and the connection verified, the property 

will be added to the sewer user charge and will receive a charge for this service. 
 
A complete summary of the project specific conditions of approval is included in the Board Meeting 
minutes. 
 
  

 
2K.2



 

2 

300 Smith Ranch Road  • San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472-1734  •  Fax 415.499-7715  •  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

Fees Due:  
 
The Connection Fee approved by the Board is as follows: 

New Building  
Capital Facilities Charge for One (1) Single Family Residence: $           6,056 
Application Fee: $              500 (Paid) 
Engineering Review and Inspection Fees: $                 0 
Total Fee: $           6,056 
 

The District ordinance provides for payment of the Connection Fee over a two year period according to 
the following: 
 

1. 10% of the Connection Fee is due within thirty days of Board approval of final plans and 
specifications; 

2. 40% of the Connection Fee is due within one year, August 23, 2019; or upon the date of building 
permit issuance, whichever occurs first; 

3. 50% of the Connection Fee is due within two years, August 23, 2020; or upon the date of building 
permit issuance, whichever occurs first; 

 
By issuing this Will-Serve Letter, LGVSD is not incurring any liability of any nature, including but not 
limited to mandate, damages or injunctive relief.  LGVSD is making no representation to the applicant 
nor waiving any rights it has under any applicable State or Federal law.  In the event there is any court 
imposed moratorium on LGVSD, a connection to the District system may not occur.  In the event any 
government agency imposes a moratorium on LGVSD, a connection to the District system may not occur.  
In the event there is not sufficient capacity, a connection to the District system may not occur. 
 
If connection has not been made within three years, the allocation will be terminated without prejudice.  
Upon request, you will receive a refund of 90% of the above fees and you will be able to re-apply for an 
allocation at the fee rate then prevailing.  Please sign and date the original of this letter and return it to the 
District office within 10 days.  The copy is for your records. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Chris DeGabriele, Interim General Manager 
 
AGREED: 
 
_____________________________________________________ Date:_________________________ 
Project Applicant 
 
Cc: Michael P. Cortez, District Engineer 
 Susan McGuire, Administrative Services Manager 

 
2K.3



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\Approve Amendment 2 - ArcSine Engineering Rebid Services for the STPRWE Project.docxPage 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report             

To: Chris DeGabriele, PE, Interim General Manager 

From: Mel Liebmann, Plant Manager 

Mtg. Date: August 23, 2018 

Re: Approve Amendment 2 to ArcSine Engineering for Additional Redesign and 
Rebidding Services for the Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade and Recycled 
Water Expansion Project 

BACKGROUND: 

Staff has requested a proposal from ArcSine Engineering for additional items of work that were identified in 
workshops and meetings of the redesign and rebidding of the Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade and 
Recycled Water Expansion Project. ArcSine Engineering’s proposal for the additional work totals $29,998. 

Scope of work as follows: 
 Contract document reviews and edits.
 Design spot checking.
 Attend meetings and workshops as necessary.
 Document PLC-to-PLC communications.
 Construction sequencing support.
 Review Huber Thickener contract documents.

The total contract amount with ArcSine Engineering associated with rejecting, redesigning, and rebidding 
the project is: 

1. Original Contract – Review and Design Support Services
(Board Approval June 22, 2017): $170,634 
2. Ammendment 1 – Additional Review and Design Support
Services (Board Approval April 26, 2018):   $24,481 
3. Ammendment 2 – Additional Review and Design Support
Services:   $29,998 

Total:  $225,113 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Board Approve Interim General Manager Authority to Approve Amendment 2 to ArcSine Engineering for 
Additional Redesign and Rebidding Services for the Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade and Recycled 
Water Expansion Project. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

$29,998 

PERSON(S) TO BE NOTIFIED:  

ArcSine Engineering 

Consent ___________2L___ 

Staff/Consultant Reports ______________ 

Agenda Item ______________ 

    Date August 23, 2018 

2L.1



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\GASB 75 report.docx Page 1 of 5 

Agenda Summary Report             

To: Chris DeGabriele, PE, Interim General ManagerCD 

From: Susan McGuire, Administrative Services ManagerSM 
Mtg. Date: August 23, 2018 

Re: Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District GASB 75 Report for Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30, 2018 

BACKGROUND: 

The District offers medical insurance coverage for employees who retire from the District and meet 
specified vesting requirements.  Prior to 2008, the District expensed the cost of providing this coverage on 
a pay as you go basis and did not account for the unfunded liability which was incurred while employees 
worked for the District.  In anticipation of Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) requirements 
that governments begin to recognize the unfunded liability for non-pension related retirement benefits, in 
2008 the District had an actuarial study performed to determine the liability.  In 2009, the District joined the 
CalPERS Employers’ Retirement Benefit Trust (CERBT) and began contributing toward the unfunded 
liability. 

The District is required by the CERBT to have an actuarial valuation performed every two years.  The most 
recent valuation was completed in March 2018 and is attached for the Board’s review.  This report was 
prepared based on the following information: 

1. Participant census information as of December 31, 2016 (Actuarial Valuation Date);
2. Investment balances as of June 30, 2017 (Measurement Date);
3. Reporting date for the year ended June 30, 2018.

In preparing actuarial valuations for pension and retirement benefits there is usually a lag in time between 
the measurement date of the assets and the presentation date in the financials of twelve months.  The 
District uses an Actuarial Valuation Date of December 31st to allow the valuation results to be included in 
any rate analysis that will be in effect for the fiscal year beginning July 1st. 

The key factors in determining the required funding and liability are the level of benefits provided to 
retirees, vesting requirements, assumed rate of return on invested assets, assumed funding period, and 
projected health insurance rate growth.   

Benefits Provided and Vesting Requirements 

The plan has four tiers of benefits depending on date of retirement or date of hire: 

1. Tier 1 – retired prior to January 1, 2003 with 5 years of service, includes spousal coverage, monthly
cap amount, currently $779, increase annually at 6%. Nine retirees currently covered.

2. Tier 2 – hired prior to January 1, 2003; employee only coverage; monthly cap amount set by the
State of California Department of Personnel Administration based on the average monthly premium

Consent ______________ 

Staff/Consultant Reports ______________ 

Agenda Item _____3_________ 

    Date August 23, 2018

3.1



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\GASB 75 report.docx Page 2 of 5 

of the four most popular plans statewide, currently $725. Five years of District service is required 
for 100% vesting in the benefit.  Eight retirees are currently covered and one active employee is 
eligible upon retirement from the District. 

3. Tier 3 – hired after January 1, 2003 and before July 1, 2014; employee and dependents eligible for 
coverage; monthly cap amount set by the State of California Department of Personnel 
Administration based on the average monthly premium of the four most popular plans statewide, 
currently $725 for employee only; $1,377 for employee plus one.  Vesting is 50% after 10 years of 
CalPERS service increasing to 100% at 20 years of service, can be performed at any CalPERS 
agency however must work for the District for 5 years and retire from the District.  Three retirees 
currently covered and eight active employees eligible upon retirement from the District. 

4. Tier 4 – hired after July 1, 2014; employee only coverage; monthly cap amount set by the State of 
California Department of Personnel Administration based on the average monthly premium of the 
four most popular plans statewide, currently $725 per month.  Vesting is 50% after 10 years of 
District service increasing 5% per year to reach 100% at 20 years of service.  There are no retirees 
currently covered and ten active employees eligible upon retirement from the District. 

 
Assumed Rate of Return on Invested Assets 
 
The CERBT offers three investment strategies with differing projected rates of returns and related risks.  
The current asset allocation strategies and rates of return are: 
 

 Strategy 1 Strategy 2 Strategy 3 
Expected Long-Term Rate of Return 7.28% 6.73% 6.12% 
Standard Deviation of Expected Returns 11.74% 9.32% 7.14% 

 
The District is invested in Strategy 2 which is the choice of 104 out of 528 CERBT participating agencies.  
The majority of the agencies are in strategy 1. The Board chose Strategy 2 after reviewing the targeted 
rate of return and standard deviation in reaching that rate of return.  The actual rate of return for Strategy 2 
as of May 31, 2018 is: 
 

 
Fiscal YTD 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 

Since Inception
(October 1, 2011)

Gross Return 6.28% 6.46% 4.74% 5.61% 7.61% 
Net Return 6.20% 6.37% 4.65% 5.51% 7.50% 
Benchmark Return 5.93% 6.04% 4.29% 5.19% 7.29% 

 
The asset class target allocations currently are: 
 

Asset 
Classification 

Strategy 1 Strategy 2 Strategy 3 

Global Equity 57% 40% 24% 
Fixed Income 27% 39% 39% 
Global Real Estate/
REIT 

8% 8% 8% 

Treasury Inflation 
Protected Securities 
(TIPS) 

5% 10% 26% 

Commodities 3% 3% 3% 
 
  

 
3.2



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\GASB 75 report.docx Page 3 of 5 

Assumed Funding Period 

When the District established the plan to prefund the retirement benefit liability, the funding period was set 
at a closed 30 year period.  The rationale behind this, based on the accounting standard in place at that 
time (GASB 45), was that it allowed the District to establish a funding goal every two years which would 
theoretically fully fund the liability over a set time frame.  The initial period was 30 years and when the 
subsequent valuations were prepared it was reduced to 28 years, and then 26 years, etc.  This differs from 
a rolling 30 year amortization period.  The amortization period is used to calculate the amount of payment 
required to fund benefits promised to current retirees, current employees, and to recognize the difference 
in the actual rate of return versus the projected rate of return on the required assets to pay future benefits.  
A rolling 30 year time period has historically been used by defined pension plans such as CalPERS to 
determine the required annual funding.  A criticism of a rolling amortization period is that each year there is 
a new amount that is added to the liability and amortized over a much longer time period (30 years) than 
the actual service period of most employees prior to retirement.  As of June 30, 2018 the remaining 
amortization period is 22 years.   

Under GASB 75, which takes effect in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the Actuarial Accrued Liability 
will be recognized on the balance sheet of the District as a liability. Prior to GASB 75’s effective date, the 
information was disclosed in the footnotes but not presented on the face of the financials.  Another change 
in the accounting rules from GASB 45 to 75 is that in the past the actuary calculated the Annual Required 
Contribution which was the actuary’s projected amount required to fund the liability over the funding term; 
under GASB 75 the actuary calculates the Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) which is similar 
concept.   

An issue in calculating the ADC is the amortization period.  As the amortization period shortens, the 
number of years available to allocate the unfunded liability is reduced until eventually it become 1.  The 
shortened amortization period can create significant volatility in budgeting for future year’s cost.  In 
addition, since the District has a participation pool of less than 50, changes in demographics by one or two 
members can have significant impacts on the actuary’s calculations.  The Board can set a reasonable 
amortization period on a rolling basis which more clearly matches the actual service of current employees 
and the projected coverage period for retirees based on well-known mortality studies.  That decision does 
not have to be made right now but will need to be considered and discussed before the next valuation 
report is prepared in 2020.   

Projected Health Insurance Rates 

The actuarial valuation requires projecting the increase in health care insurance premiums for 
pre-Medicare and post-Medicare participants and projecting which health plans retirees will elect.  
Projected rate increases in the valuation range from 8% in 2018 to 5% in 2030.  Over the last eleven 
years, actual increases have averaged closer to 6% for Kaiser, non-Medicare coverage; less than 2% for 
Kaiser Medicare coverage; and 2.75% for the traditional fee for service plan offered by CalPERS, PERS 
Care, for the same period.  The maximum coverage cap as set by the State of California Department of 
Personnel Administration based on the average of the four most popular plans statewide has averaged 
4.46% during the same eleven years; this is relevant in that this rate is used to set the maximum cost 
participation by the District for three tiers of medical retirement benefits.   

Another factor in the health care insurance premium setting which impacts the cost of accounting for 
retiree medical benefits is the Active Implicit Rate Subsidy.  The Active Implicit Rate Subsidy comes into 
play when the health insurance rates are not age based as with CalPERS medical plans where all 
participants pay the same rate.  Historically different age groups and genders incur varying health care 

3.3



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\GASB 75 report.docx Page 4 of 5 

costs at different rates during potions of their lives. With an age based or gender rated plan, the rates are 
set taking the utilization rates of different groups into account.  CalPERS does not set its health care 
insurance rates in this manner.  Accordingly, the rates paid for active employees may be higher than they 
would be for an age based plan which creates the active implicit rate subsidy for retirees.   

District Data Since Establishing the CERBT 

Below is a table showing District cost participation, market value of assets invested in CERBT, unfunded 
actuarial liability and covered lives which includes active and retired participants. 

Fiscal 
Year End

Annual Funding 
for Benefits

Market Value of 
Assets

Unfunded 
Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability

Covered 
Lives

2009 48,274$             -$                1,465,852$        31             
2010 117,653$           63,348$             1,482,985$        31             
2011 120,626$           160,698$           1,985,486$        33             
2012 182,994$           285,231$           2,000,604$        33             
2013 191,420$           433,543$           1,844,973$        33             
2014 172,467$           601,454$           1,721,266$        33             
2015 178,737$           684,028$           1,854,011$        40             
2016 212,594$           822,086$           2,093,879$        40             
2017 219,673$           1,010,968$        2,094,980$        43             

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

A
n

n
u

al
 F

u
n

d
in

g
 o

f 
B

e
n

e
fi

ts

U
n

fu
n

d
e

d
 A

ct
u

ar
ia

l 
A

cc
ru

e
d

 L
ia

b
ili

ty

Market Value of Assets Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability

Annual Funding for Benefits

3.4



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\GASB 75 report.docx Page 5 of 5 

 
The District has $1,164,672 invested in the CERBT as of the most recent market value of assets dated 
March 31, 2018.  The unfunded liability per the actuarial valuation dated March 2018 is $1,716,981.  For 
the year end June 30, 2018, the cost for current and future retiree benefits was $217,518 and for FY 2019 
it is $228,225.  The projected GASB 75 Actuarial Determined Contribution for the subsequent three years 
is: $250,335 in FY 2020; $274,958 in FY 2021 and $302,542 in 2022. A new valuation will be prepared in 
2020 and the ADC amounts will change. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Information only for Board consideration and discussion. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
Funding for FY 2019 $228,225, budgeted.  
 
PERSON TO BE NOTIFIED:  
 
Not applicable. 

 
3.5



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
OPEB Plan 

Actuarial Valuation as of December 31, 2016 
For Purposes of Actuarial Funding 

And GASB 75 ADC 

March 2, 2018

3.6



 

Nicolay Consulting Group  
 

March 2, 2018 OPEB CONSULTANTS AND ACTUARIES 
 530 BUSH STREET, SUITE 500  

 SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94108-3633 
 TEL: 415-512-5300 

 FAX: 415-512-5314 

 

Ms. Susan M. McGuire, CPA, SHRM-SCP, SPHR 
Administrative Services Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
300 Smith Ranch Road 
San Rafael, CA 94903 
 
Re:  Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District GASB 75 Report for FY Ended June 30, 2018 
 
Dear Susan: 
 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (“The District”) has retained Nicolay Consulting Group to 
complete this valuation of the District’s postemployment medical program (the “Plan”) as of June 
30, 2017 measurement compliant under Actuarial Standards of Practice for funding and 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 75 for actuarial methods.  

The purpose of this valuation is to determine the value of the expected postretirement benefits for 
current and future retirees and the Actuarial Accrued Liability (i.e., Total OPEB Liability under 
GASB 75) and Actuarially Determined Contribution for the plan year ending June 30, 2018.  The 
amounts reported herein are not necessarily appropriate for use for a different fiscal year or plan 
year without adjustment. 

Based on the foregoing, the cost results and actuarial exhibits presented in this report were 
determined on a consistent and objective basis in accordance with applicable Actuarial Standards 
of Practice and generally accepted actuarial procedures.  We believe they fully and fairly disclose 
the actuarial position of the Plan based on the plan provisions, employee and plan cost data 
submitted. 

The actuarial calculations were completed under the supervision of Gary Cline and Eddie Lee.  Both 
Mr. Cline and Mr. Lee are members of the American Academy of Actuaries whom meet the 
Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion. To 
the best of our knowledge, the information supplied in the actuarial valuation is complete and 
accurate.  In our opinion, assumptions as approved by the plan sponsor are reasonably related to 
the experience of and expectations for the Plan. 

We would be pleased to answer any questions on the material contained in this report or to provide 
explanation or further detail as may be appropriate. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
NICOLAY CONSULTING GROUP 

 

Gary E. Cline, ASA, MAAA, FCA, EA     Eddie Lee, ASA, MAAA, FCA, EA 
Vice President & Chief Operating Officer  Senior Actuary 

 
3.7



Table of Contents 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
GASB Statement 75 Valuation as of June 30, 2017 

Section Page 

I. Management Summary  

A) Highlights……………………………………………………………………………1

B) Gap Analysis ……………………………………………………………………….2

C) 10-Year Projection of Employer Benefit Payments …………………………….3

D) Funding Progress ………………………………………………………………….4

II. Actuarial Funding Exhibits and GASB 75 ADC

A) Derivation of Significant Actuarial Assumptions Liability (Exhibit 1) ………….5

B) Sensitivity Analysis (Exhibit 2) …………………………………………………...6

C) Explicit and Implicit Liabilities (Exhibit 3)   …… ………..………………………7

D) Schedule of Actuarially Determined Contributions (Exhibit 4) ………………8

E) Schedule of Contributions Made (Exhibit 5) ………………………….9

III. Data

A) Summary of Demographic Information ……………………………………….10

B) Distribution of Participants by Age and Service ………………….…………..11

IV. Plan Provision Summary

A) Plan Description …………………………………………………………………12

V Actuarial Assumptions, Methods, and Considerations 

A) Actuarial Assumptions ………………………………………………………….13

B) Actuarial Methods ………………………………………………………………17

C) Actuarial Considerations  ……………………………………………………….18

VI. Glossary

A) Key Terms ……………………………………………………………………….20

3.8



Section I Management Summary 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017 Page 1 

A) Highlights

Summary of Key Valuation Results 

2017-18
Funded Status for Plan year beginning July 1: 

Present Value of Future Benefits: 
Active $2,077,550 
Retiree 1,416,569 
Total $3,494,119 

Actuarial Accrued Liability 
Active $1,311,993 
Retiree 1,416,569 
Total  $2,728,562 

Market Value of Assets 1,011,581 

Funded Status $1,716,981 

Funded Status as a percentage of the AAL 37% 

Actuarially Determined Contribution for PY beginning July 1: 
Actuarially determined contributions(1) (Exhibit 4) $213,168 

Estimated Trust Contribution $71,693 

Estimated Annual Retiree Premium 108,040 

Active Implicit Subsidy ___33,436 

Total Contribution $213,168 

Demographic data for Plan year beginning July 1(2): 
Number of active members 20 

Number of retired members and beneficiaries 19 

2
0
1
7
4

Total 39 

Covered Payroll for prior Plan year $2,252,470 

Key assumptions as of July 1: 
Discount rate 6.73% 

Initial Trend Rate 
Pre-65 7.7% 
Post-65 5.5% 

Ultimate Rate 5.0% 
Year Ultimate Rate is Reached 2030 

(1) Includes payments to trust and amounts paid directly by the plan sponsor 

(2) Census data as of December 31, 2017 is used in the measurement of the AAL as of July 1, 2017. See Section III for 

additional details on the demographic data. 

3.9



Section I Management Summary 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017 Page 2 

B) Gap Analysis

The Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) has decreased ($181,655) from $2,910,217 as of July 1, 2016 
to $2,728,562 as of July 1, 2017. A breakdown of the sources of this change in liability is shown 
below:  

Liability Experience Amount Percentage 

Expected Benefits Earned, Benefit Payments and Interest $279 10% 

Actual Demographic and Other Experience   ($3)  (0%) 

Total Liability Experience $276 10% 

Changes in Assumptions Amount Percentage 
Revised Health Care Cost Assumed Trend Rates $175 6% 

Coverage of Surviving Spouses 62 2% 

Revised CalPERS Assumed Retirement Rates 20 1% 

Blended Implicit Subsidy 7 0% 

Revised Spouse Implicit Subsidy Assumptions (65) 2% 

Revised CalPERS Assumed Mortality Rates (256) (9%) 

Actual 2017 Premium Rates _(401) (14%) 

Total Changes in Assumptions ($458) (16%) 

Total Change in AAL 

Liability Experience $276 

Changes in Assumptions  ($458) 

Total  ($181) 

*Amounts are in Thousands.

3.10



Section I Management Summary 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017  Page 3     

 

Fiscal Year 
Beginning 7/1 Premiums 

Implicit 
Subsidy Total  

2017 $108,040 $33,436 $141,476  
2018 $109,141 $22,680 $131,821  
2019 $108,119 $14,348 $122,467  
2020 $114,867 $18,045 $132,912  
2021 $125,440 $27,741 $153,181  
2022 $137,194 $38,073 $175,267  
2023 $145,749 $44,131 $189,880  
2024 $155,411 $52,501 $207,912  
2025 $168,385 $62,966 $231,351  
2026 $180,124 $70,020 $250,144  

 

 

 

  

$0

$50,000

$100,000

$150,000

$200,000

$250,000

$300,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

10-Year Projection of Employer Benefit Payments

Premiums Implicit Subsidy Total Benefit Payouts

C) 10-Year Projection of Employer Benefit Payments  

 
3.11



Section I Management Summary 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017  Page 4     

 
Below is an illustration of the funded status of the Plan for the past 9 years, and a projection of 
the next year’s funded status looking forward: 

 

 

 

 

Note: 

1) Total OPEB Liability for GASB 75 is an interchangeable term with Actuarial Accrued Liability for funding. 
2) Total OPEB Liability shown above on/after 2017 was based on Entry Age Normal Funding Method under GASB 75. 
3) Prior to 2017, Total OPEB Liability shown were based on Projected Unit Credit Funding Method under GASB 45. 

 

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Th
o

u
sa

n
d

s

Funded Status as of Measurement Date June 30
(9-year historical, 1-year projection)

Total OPEB Liability Plan Fiduciary Net Position % Funded

Total OPEB Liability Plan Fiduciary Net Position % Funded

D) Funding Progress  

 
3.12



Section II Actuarial Funding Exhibits and GASB 75 ADC 
 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017   Page 5  

A) Derivation of Significant Actuarial Assumptions (Exhibit 1) 

 
Long-term Expected Rate of Return – As of June 30, 2017, the long-term expected rates of return 
for each major investment class in the Plan’s portfolio are as follows: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1JPMorgan arithmetic Long Term Capital Market assumptions and expected inflation of 2.25%. 

 

The above table shows the target asset allocation in the CERBT Strategy 2 investment policy. 

 
Discount rate – The discount rate is based on a blend of (a) the long-term expected rate of 
return on assets for benefits covered by plan assets and a yield or index for 20-year, tax-exempt 
general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or better for benefits not 
covered by plan assets. 

Above are the arithmetic long-term expected real rates of return by asset class for the next 10 
years as provided in a report by JP Morgan. For years thereafter, returns were based on historical 
average index real returns over the last 30 years assuming a similar equity/fixed investment mix 
and a 2.25% inflation rate. Investment expenses were assumed to be 10 basis points per year.  
These returns were matched with cash flows for benefits covered by plan assets and the Bond 
Buyer 20-Bond General Obligation index was matched with cash flows not covered by plan 
assets to measure the reasonableness of the choice in discount rate. 

 
  

Investment Class 
Target 

Allocation 

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return1 

Equity 
 

43.00% 5.45% 
Fixed Income 
 

49.00% 1.87% 

REITs 
 

8.00% 5.06% 

Cash 0.00% 0.00% 

 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2017 

Discount Rate 
 

6.73% 6.73% 

Bond Buyer 20-Bond GO Index 2.58% 3.58% 

 
3.13



Section II Actuarial Funding Exhibits and GASB 75 ADC 
 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017   Page 6  

B) Sensitivity Analysis (Exhibit 2) 

 
Sensitivity of the Actuarial Accrued Liability to changes in the Discount Rate – The following 
presents what The District Actuarial Accrued Liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1% point lower (5.73%) or 1% point higher (7.73%) than the current rate. 
 
 
Sensitivity of the Actuarial Accrued Liability to changes in the Trend Rate – The following 
presents The District Actuarial Accrued Liability if it were calculated using a trend table that is 
1% point lower or 1% point higher than the current rate. 
 
 
Actuarial Accrued Liability as of 07/01/2017 Valuation Date: $2,728,562 
 
Sensitivity Analysis: 
 

 AAL/TOL $ Change %Change 

Discount Rate 

+1% $2,436,006 ($292,556) (11%) 

Base $2,728,562 0 0 

 -1% $3,081,401 $352,839 13% 

    

Trend Rate 

+1% $3,061,615 $333,053 12% 

Base $2,728,562 0 0 

 -1% $2,439,377 ($289,185) (11%) 
  

 
3.14



Section II Actuarial Funding Exhibits and GASB 75 ADC 
 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017   Page 7  

C) Explicit and Implicit Liabilities (Exhibit 3) 

 

 

  

 Explicit Implicit Total 
    
Present Value of Future Benefits    

Actives $1,532,686 $544,864 $2,077,550 
Retirees     1,250,076       166,494     1,416,569 
Total $2,782,762 $711,358 $3,494,119 
    
Actuarial Accrued Liability    

Actives $955,896 $356,097 $1,311,993 
Retirees     1,250,076       166,493     1,416,569 
Total $2,205,972 $522,590 $2,728,562 
    
Normal Cost (boy) $68,862 $22,736 $91,598 

 
3.15



Section II Actuarial Funding Exhibits and GASB 75 ADC 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017 Page 8 

D) Schedule of Actuarially Determined Contributions (Exhibit 4)

Plan Year 2017 -  2018 2018 -  2019 2019 -  2020 

Projected1 Projected1 

Actuarial Accrued Liability $2,728,562 $2,863,797 $3,029,904 
Actuarial Value of Assets2  1,011,581  1,153,726  1,253,322 
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability $1,716,981 $1,710,071 $1,776,582 

Amortization Period3 22 21 20 

Normal Cost (eoy) $97,761 $109,558 $122,778 
Amortization of UAAL4   115,407   118,667  127,557 
Actuarially Determined Contribution $213,168 $228,225 $250,335 

Discount Rate 6.73% 6.73% 6.73%
Expected Return on Assets 6.73% 6.73% 6.73%
Normal Cost Growth Rate n/a 5.00% 5.00% 

1 Projections assume that the District funds the Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC), the Fund earns 
6.73% per year, the discount rate remains 6.73% and the Normal Cost component of the ADC increases by 
5.0% per year throughout the two-year period.  We assumed mid-year benefit withdrawals from the Trust. 

2 Asset Smoothing: GASB 75 calculates the unfunded liability using market value of assets.  However, equity 
risk can result in significant asset volatility, which translates to a volatile unfunded liability.  To mitigate this 
volatility, the District can adopt an asset smoothing method, which recognizes gain/loss for any one year 
systematically over the smoothing period.  Common smoothing periods are 3-5 years in length. 

3 Amortization Method: GASB 75 amortizes asset gain/loss over 5 years, liability experience gain/loss and 
assumption change gain/loss over a variable period of roughly 5-10 years, and immediately recognizes plan 
amendment gain/loss and your initial unfunded.  Under the GASB 45 methodology, the District was amortizing 
all of these items over a closed 30 year period. The District should consider whether the old GASB 45 
methodology is still appropriate as it may lead to a significant under or over funding when the amortization 
periods for the ADC calculation are not the same as the amortizations for GASB 75. 

4 Amortization of UAAL Method: Under GASB 45 methodology, excess assets are amortized in the same way 
that UAAL is amortized, which may result in the presence of an ADC even when the plan would be expected 
to be fully funded at the end of the year without a contribution. 

3.16



Section II Actuarial Funding Exhibits and GASB 75 ADC 
 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017   Page 9  

 

 

 

 
  

E) Schedule of Contributions1 (Exhibit 5) 

 Plan Year 2016 -  2017 

Actuarially Determined Contribution2 219,673 

  
Covered-employee payroll3   2,252,470 
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll3 

 
13% 

Contributions to the Trust $134,180 
Pay-go Payments by Employer Unreimbursed by the Trust 94,678 
Active Implicit Rate Subsidy Transferred to OPEB    59,093 
Total OPEB Contributions1 $287,951 

1 ADC and Contributions are for the measurement period July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017. 
2 Employers setting a discount rate based on the assumption that assets will be sufficient to cover all future benefit 

payments under the plan are assumed to annually make contributions equal to the actuarially determined contribution. 
Annual contributions made that are substantially less than the ADC would require additional support for use of a 
discount rate equal to the long-term expected return on trust assets. The ADC is based on the actuarial valuation as 
of the July 1, 2015 report 

. 
3 Covered-Employee Payroll represented above is based on cover-employee payroll provided by the employer. GASB 

75 defines covered-employee payroll as the total payroll of employees that are provided OPEBs through the OPEB 
plan.  Accordingly, if OPEB covered-employee payroll shown above is different than total earnings for covered-
employees, the employer should display in the disclosure footnotes the payroll based on total earnings for the 
covered group and recalculate the required payroll-related ratios. 

 
3.17



Section III Data 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017   Page 10     

 
The participant data used in the valuation was provided by The District as of December 31, 2016. 
It is assumed that this data is representative of the population as of December 31, 2016. While 
the participant data was checked for reasonableness, the data was not audited, and the valuation 
results presented in this report are dependent upon the accuracy of the participant data provided. 
The table below presents a summary of the basic participant information for the active and retired 
participants covered under the terms of the Plan.  

 

 

  

A) Summary of Demographic Information 

 Total* 
 Actives   

Total Counts  20 
Average Age 43 
Average Service  8 
  

 Retirees   
Counts   

Under age 65* 6 
Age 65 and over 13   

Total Counts 19 
Average Age 71 

  
Total Participants 39 
  
 Covered Dependents of Retirees   

Counts  
Spouses / Domestic Partners 4 
Children 0   

Total  4 
  
Grand Total 43 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
*Includes 3 retirees who receive PEMCHA only 

 
3.18



Section III Data 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017   Page 11     

 

Distribution of Service Groups by Age Groups 
Age 
Group 

 Retired* 
Participants 

 
Active Participant – Years of Service 

    0 - 4 5 - 9 10 - 14 15 - 19 20 - 24 25+ Total 
< 25  0  1 0 0 0 0 0 1 
25 - 29  0  2 0 0 0 0 0 2 
30 - 34  0  1 0 0 0 0 0 1 
35 - 39  0  2 0 1 0 0 0 3 
40 - 44  0  3 0 0 0 0 0 3 
45 - 49  0  2 0 1 0 0 0 3 
50 - 54  0  0 1 0 0 2 1 4 
55 - 59  1  1 1 1 0 0 0 3 
60 - 64  5  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
65 - 69  2  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
> 70  11  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total  19  12 2 3 0 2 1 20 

 

* Retired participants include retirees, disabled participants, and surviving family members. Does not 
include covered dependents.  

 

B) Distribution of Participants by Age and Service 

 
3.19



Section IV Plan Provision Summary 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017   Page 12     

 
Current Plan for Existing Employees:  

The District provides lifetime postretirement medical coverage to employees who retire 
from the District at age 50 or older with at least 5 years of continuous PERS covered 
service. 

Coverage may be extended to the spouse and dependents depending on the coverage 
in effect at retirement, and subject to applicable caps.  Spousal coverage is only available 
if they were married to the retiree at the time of retirement from the District and if the 
retiree chose a dual retirement payout from PERS at the time of retirement.  

The amount of medical retirement coverage is divided into four groups: 

Group 1 Retired prior to January 1, 2003.  Their benefit is based on a monthly cap which 
is increased by 6% each year.  The monthly cap is $734.79 as of January 1, 2017 and 
may be used to cover the retiree and their spouse.  If the monthly premium for the retiree 
is less than $734.79, any overage will be paid to them if they have a qualifying spouse on 
their plan. 

Group 2 employees were hired prior to January 1, 2003 and not retired as of that date.  
They receive the One Party rate which was $707 as of January 1, 2017.  This rate is set 
by the California Department of Personnel Administration.  This benefit is only available 
for the retiree so that if their individual cost falls below the $707, they only receive a benefit 
for the actual cost. 

Group 3 employees were hired after January 1, 2003.  They are part of the states’ 

statutory plan per Government Code Section 22893.  They can receive coverage for 
themselves and their dependents, up to a cap set annually by the California Department 
of Personnel Administration.  The maximum amount of coverage is 100% for the retiree 
and 90% for dependents.  Retirees have to work for the District for five years and have at 
least 10 years of PERS service to reach the minimum benefit of 50% coverage.  The 
percentage of employer contribution increases 5% each year until 20 years of PERS 
service is reached with 100% coverage for the retiree and 90% for dependents.  As of 
January 1, 2017 the contribution amounts are $707 for an individual, $1,349 for two party 
coverage and $1,727 for family coverage.  If a retiree has between five and less than ten 
years of service, they receive the contractual minimum monthly payment of $128 for 2017. 

Group 4 employees were hired after July 1, 2014.  They can receive coverage for 
themselves up to a cap set annually by the California Department of Personnel 
Administration.  The maximum amount of coverage is 100% for the retiree only.  Retirees 
have to work for the District for 10 years and retire from the District to receive the minimum 
benefit of 50% coverage.  The percentage of employer contribution increases 5% each 

A) Plan Description 

 
3.20



Section IV Plan Provision Summary 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017   Page 13     

year until 20 years of District service is reached with 100% coverage for the retiree.  As 
of January 1, 2017 the contribution amounts are $707 for an individual.  If a retiree has 
between five and less than ten years of service, they receive the contractual minimum 
monthly payment of $128 for 2017. 

For all retirees the contractual minimum monthly payment, which is determined each year 
by CalPERS, is remitted directly to CalPERS. For 2017 it is $128.  This payment is 
included in the overall cap of coverage for each group.  So if they are a Group 1 retiree, 
for 2017 the District remits $128 to CalPERS and pays a maximum of $606.79 to the 
retiree. 

  

Pre-Medicare Premiums   
 2017 Plan EE EE+SP EE+Fam 

Anthem HMO Select 783.46  1,566.92  2,037.00  
Anthem HMO Traditional 990.05  1,980.10  2,574.13  
Blue Shield Access+ 1,024.85  2,049.70  2,664.61  
Kaiser 733.39  1,466.78  1,906.81  
PERSCare 932.39  1,864.78  2,424.21  
PERS Choice 830.30  1,660.60  2,158.78  
PERS Select 736.27  1,472.54  1,914.30  
UnitedHealthcare 1,062.26  2,124.52  2,761.88  

Medicare Premiums 2017 Plan  EE EE+SP 
Kaiser 300.48  600.96  
PERS Choice 389.76  779.52  
PERS Select 353.63  707.26  
PERSCare 353.63  707.26  
UnitedHealthcare 324.21  648.42  

PEMHCA Minimum   2017 
   128.00 

 
3.21



Section V Actuarial Assumption, Methods, & Considerations 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017  Page 14 

A) Actuarial Assumptions

Discount Rate 6.73%, based on CERBT investment allocation Strategy 2 

Health Care Trend Year Increase in Premium Rates 
Beginning Pre-65 Post-65 
2018 8.00% 5.50% 
2019 7.75% 5.25% 
2020 7.50% 5.00% 
2021 7.25% 5.00% 
2022 7.00% 5.00% 
2023 6.75% 5.00% 
2024 6.50% 5.00% 
2025 6.25% 5.00% 
2026 6.00% 5.00% 
2027 5.75% 5.00% 
2028 5.50% 5.00% 
2029 5.25% 5.00% 

2030 and later 5.00% 5.00% 

Plan Distribution for Calculating 
Baseline Cost 

Plan Pre-
Medicare 

Post-
Medicare 

Blue Shield 5% 15% 
Kaiser 77% 62% 
PERSCare 5% 0% 
PERS Choice 14% 3% 

Total1 100% 100% 
1May not add to 100% because of rounding. 

Amortization Methodology We used straight-line amortization.  For assumption 
changes and experience gains/losses, we assumed 
Average Future Working Lifetime, averages over all 
actives and retirees (retirees are assumed to have no 
future working years).  For asset gains and losses, we 
assumed 5 years. 

Baseline Cost Pre-Medicare: $9,074 per year 
Post-Medicare: $3,800 per year 

Inflation We assumed 2.25% annual inflation. 

Payroll increases 3.25% annual increases. 

Administrative Expenses We assumed that there are no administrative fees other 
than those included in the premium rates. 

Net Investment Return 6.73%, based on CERBT investment allocation Strategy 2 

3.22



Section V Actuarial Assumption, Methods, & Considerations 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017  Page 15 

* Source: NCG has not performed an experience study to select these assumptions. NCG has not observed materially consistent

gains or consistent losses associated with these assumptions 

A) Actuarial Assumptions (continued)

Percent Married We assumed that all current actives with their spouses will cover 
their spouses at retirement, and that all current actives not covering 
spouses will continue not covering spouses at retirement. 

Health Plan Participation We assumed that 100% of eligible participants will participate. 

Medicare Coverage We assumed that all future retirees will be eligible for Medicare when 
they reach age 65.  

Disability Because of the anticipated low incidence of disability retirements we 
did not value disability. 

Mortality* The mortality rates used in this valuation are those used in the 
most recent CalPERS valuations. 

Pre-Retirement:  CalPERS 2014 Mortality pre-retirement 

Post-Retirement: CalPERS 2014 Mortality post-retirement 

Sample Mortality Rates 
Active Employees  Retired Employees 

Age Male Female  Male Female 
55 0.23% 0.14% 0.60% 0.42% 
60 0.31% 0.18% 0.71% 0.44% 
65 0.40% 0.26% 0.83% 0.59% 
70 0.52% 0.37% 1.31% 0.99% 
75 0.71% 0.53% 2.21% 1.72% 
80 0.99% 0.81% 3.90% 2.90% 
85 0.00% 0.00% 6.97% 5.24% 
90 0.00% 0.00% 12.97% 9.89% 

3.23



Section V Actuarial Assumption, Methods, & Considerations 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017   Page 16     

 

 

 

 

* Source: NCG has not performed an experience study to select these assumptions. NCG has not observed materially consistent 

gains or consistent losses associated with these assumptions 

 

  

Retirement* 
 
 
 
 
 
2.7% @ 55 
(for actives hired before 
January 1, 2013) 

We used the Public Agency Miscellaneous retirement 
rates that were produced from the 2014 experience study 
performed by CalPERS. 2.7% @ 55 for actives hired 
before January 1, 2013, and 2% @ 62 for actives hired on 
or after January 1, 2013. 
 
 Years of Service 
Age 5 10 15 20 25 
50 0.4% 0.9% 1.4% 3.5% 5.5% 
55 7.6% 10.1% 12.5% 16.5% 20.5% 
60 6.9% 9.3% 11.6% 15.4% 19.2% 
65 13.4% 17.4% 21.5% 27.0% 32.6% 
70 14.1% 18.3% 22.6% 28.3% 34.1% 
75 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
      

 Years of Service 
Age 5 10 15 20 25 

2% @ 62 
(for actives hired on or after  
January 1, 2013) 

50 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
55 4.4% 5.6% 6.8% 8.0% 9.2% 
60 6.2% 7.8% 9.5% 11.2% 12.9% 
65 12.9% 16.4% 19.9% 23.4% 26.9% 
70 12.5% 16.0% 19.4% 22.8% 26.2% 
75 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

       

Withdrawal*  We selected withdrawal rates that were used in the most 
recent CalPERS Public Agency Miscellaneous valuations. 

  Years of Service 
Age 0 5 10 15 20 
25 16.7% 8.7% 7.5% 0.0% 0.0% 
30 16.1% 7.9% 6.7% 5.8% 0.0% 
35 15.4% 7.1% 5.9% 5.0% 4.5% 
40 14.7% 6.3% 5.1% 4.2% 3.7% 
45 14.0% 5.5% 4.3% 3.5% 2.9% 
50 13.3% 1.2% 0.7% 0.3% 0.2% 

A)  Actuarial Assumptions (continued) 

 
3.24



Section V Actuarial Assumption, Methods, & Considerations 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017  Page 17 

B) Actuarial Methods

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal 

An actuarial cost method under which the Actuarial 
Present Value of the Projected Benefits of each individual 
included in the valuation is allocated on a level basis over 
the earnings or service of the individual between entry age 
and assumed exit age(s).  The portion of this Actuarial 
Present Value allocated to a valuation year is called the 
Normal Cost.   

 Financial and Census Data The District provided the participant data, financial 
information and plan descriptions used in this valuation. 
The actuary has checked the data for reasonableness, but 
has not independently audited the data. The actuary has 
no reason to believe the data is not complete and accurate, 
and knows of no further information that is essential to the 
preparation of the actuarial valuation.  

Plan Fiduciary Net Position Market value of assets as of the measurement date 

Measurement Date June 30, 2017 

Valuation Date January 1, 2017. Results have been rolled forward (an 
actuarial adjustment) to June 30, 2017. 

Funding Policy The District intends to contribute the full ADC to the 
CERBT each year.  

3.25



Section V Actuarial Assumption, Methods, & Considerations 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017  Page 18 

C) Actuarial Considerations

Health Care Reform 
Health care delivery is going through an evolution due to 
enactment of Health Care Reform.  The Patient Protection 
and Affordable Care Act (PPACA), was signed March 23, 
2010, with further changes enacted by the Health Care and 
Education Affordability Reconciliation Act (HCEARA), 
signed March 30, 2010.  This valuation uses various 
assumptions that may have been modified based on 
considerations under PPACA.  This section discusses 
particular legislative changes that were reflected in our 
assumptions.  We have not identified any other specific 
provision of PPACA that would be expected to have a 
significant impact on the measured obligation.  As 
additional guidance on the Act continues to be issued, we’ll

continue to monitor impacts. 

Individual Mandate Under PPACA, individuals (whether actively employed or 
otherwise) must be covered by health insurance or else 
pay a penalty tax to the government.  While it is not 
anticipated that the Act will result in universal coverage, it 
is expected to increase the overall portion of the population 
with coverage.  We believe this will result in an increased 
demand on health care providers, resulting in higher trend 
for medical services for non-Medicare eligible retirees. 
(Medicare costs are constrained by Medicare payment 
mechanisms already in place, plus additional reforms 
added by PPACA and HCEARA.)  While we believe that 
the mandate may result in somewhat higher participation 
overall, this issue would have a marginal impact since we 
assume 100% participation upon retirement. 

Employer Mandate Health Care Reform includes various provisions 
mandating employer coverage for active employees, with 
penalties for non-compliance.  Those provisions do not 
directly apply to the postemployment coverage included in 
this valuation. 

3.26



Section V Actuarial Assumption, Methods, & Considerations 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017  Page 19 

C) Actuarial Considerations (continued)

Medicare Advantage Plans Effective January 1, 2011, the Law provides for reductions 
to the amounts that would be provided to Medicare 
Advantage plans starting in 2011. We considered the 
effect of these reductions in federal payments to Medicare 
Advantage plans when setting our trend assumption. 

Expansion of Child Coverage to 
Age 26 

Health Care Reform mandates that coverage be offered to 
any child, dependent or not, through age 26, consistent 
with coverage for any other dependent.  We assume that 
this change has been reflected in current premium rates. 
While this plan covers dependents, we do not currently 
assume non-spouse dependent coverage other than for 
firefighters.  We believe the impact this assumption has on 
the valuation is immaterial due to the lack of retirees that 
have had or are expected to have non-spouse dependents 
for any significant amount of time during retirement. 

Elimination of Annual or 
Lifetime Maximums 

Health Care Reform provides that annual or lifetime 
maximums have to be eliminated for all “essential 
services.”  We assume that current premium rates already 
reflect the elimination of any historic maximums. 

Cadillac Tax  
(High Cost Plan Excise Tax) 

The PPACA legislation added a new High-Cost Plan 
Excise Tax (also known as the “Cadillac Tax”) starting in 
calendar year 2020.  For valuation purposes, we assumed 
that the value of the tax will be passed back to the plan in 
higher premium rates. 

 The tax is 40% of the excess of (a) the cost of
coverage over (b) the limit.  We modeled the cost 
of the tax by calculating (a) using the working rates 
projected with trend.  We calculated (b) starting 
with the statutory limits ($10,200 single and 
$27,500 family), adjusted for the following: 

o Limits will increase from 2018 to 2019 by
4.25% (CPI plus 1%); 

o Limits will increase after 2019 by 3.25%
(CPI); and 

o For retirees over age 55 and not on
Medicare, the limit is increased by an 
additional dollar amount of $1,650 for single 
coverage and $3,450 for family coverage. 

 Based on the above assumptions, we estimate that
the tax will apply as early as 2020 for some of the 
District’s pre-Medicare plans.  In addition, we 
estimate that the tax will not apply for the District’s
post-Medicare plans. 

3.27



Section VI Glossary 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District OPEB Plan 
Actuarial Valuation as of June 30, 2017  Page 20 

A) Key Terms

Actuarially Determined Contribution  The annual contribution amount required to fund the plan 
based on an actuarial funding method.  The intent of a 
funding method is to ensure enough assets would be set 
aside during the working careers of participants in a plan 
in order to fully pay all future benefits after participants 
retire. 

Present Value of Future Benefits 
(PVFB) 

The value, as of the valuation date, of the projected 
benefits payable to all members for their accrued service 
and their expected future service, discounted to reflect the 
time value (present value) of money and adjusted for the 
probabilities of retirement, withdrawal, death and disability 

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) The portion of the actuarial present value of projected 
benefit payments that is attributed to past period of 
member service in conformity with the actuarial funding 
method. The actuarial accrued liability is the liability of the 
plan sponsor and represents how much assets should be 
set aside as of the current valuation date. 

Normal Cost or Service Cost The portion of the Present Value of Future Benefits 
attributed to employee service during the current fiscal 
year by the actuarial cost method. These terms are used 
interchangeably. 

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability The amount of the actuarial accrued liability that has not 
yet been funded 

Covered Payroll Annual compensation paid (or expected to be paid) to 
active employees covered by an OPEB plan, in aggregate. 

Other Postemployment 
Benefits (OPEB) 

Retiree health care benefits and post-employment benefits 
provided separately from a pension plan (excluding 
termination offers and benefits). 

Actuarial Value of Assets Usually set equal to the market value of assets as of the 
valuation date.  Sometimes, however, asset smoothing 
methods are used to reduce the impact of short term 
market volatility.  In these cases the actuarial value of 
assets can be more or less than the market value. Often a 
corridor of up to 20% is used to cap how much the actuarial 
value of assets is more or less than the market value. 

Implicit Subsidy This phenomena arises when actives claims are mixed 
with pre-Medicare retiree claims to develop a single flat 
premium that both groups pay for medical coverage. The 
flat premium does not recognize that retirees generally 
have higher costs than active employees, thus active 
employees are subsidizing the retirees. 

3.28



8/23/2018 

Interim General Manager Report 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting
□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting
 Verbal Report 
□ Presentation

AGENDA ITEM 4A1 

 
4A1.1



Collections	
Department	
Progress	
Report	

August	23	

 
 The LGVSD Collection System Department is responsible for the day‐to‐day 
operation and maintenance of 105 miles of gravity sewer lines and 6.72 miles of 
force mains, servicing a population of approximately 29,000 residents and 
businesses throughout the District. The department consists of 3 Collection System 
Operators, 1 Lead Collection System Operator and the Collection System/Safety 
Manager. General sanitary sewer Preventative Maintenance  tasks include 
hydroflushing, root‐cutting, and CCTV inspection. In addition to Preventative 
Maintenance, Collection System Operators are responsible for lateral 
repair/replacement inspections, Underground Service Alert (USA) locating , 
customer inquiries  (incident reports), Air Release Valve Maintenance and 
monitoring 15 pump stations within the District. 

April	–	July	
2018’	

Agenda item 4A2
August 23, 2018

 
4A2.1



Preventative Maintenance 

April – August 2018 

 

Underground Service Alerts Completed 

 875 USA’s completed (0.75 hours x 875 = 656.25 hours) 

Lateral Inspections 

 34 inspections completed (0.75 hours x34= 25.5   hours) Inspections YTD = 41 

Service Requests (Incident Reports) 

 There were 5 Service Requests for the Months of April ‐ August 

 

                                                COLLECTION CREW 2018
                                                                           Measurement in feet

JANUARY - MARCH APRIL - AUGUST SEPTEMBER - OCTOBER November - December TOTAL
ITV 2,816 0 2,816     

-         
CJET 15,172 80,614 95,786    

-         
CLEAN 5,639 60,609 66,248    

-         
ROOTCT 3,487 24,196 27,683    

-         
IRO 0 2,456 2,456     

-         
SMOKE 0 0 -         

-         
IAG 288 576 864        

TOTAL 27,402 168,451 0 0 195,853

ITV              =  Camera truck ROOTCT     =   Rodding
CJET           =  Flushing with camera truck IRO              =  TVing with push camera
CLEAN         =  Flushing with flusher truck SMOKE       =  Smoke testing
CVAC          =  Vactor IAG              =  Above ground inspection

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

JANUARY - MARCH APRIL - AUGUST SEPTEMBER -
OCTOBER

November - December

ITV

CJET

CLEAN

ROOTCT

IRO

SMOKE

IAG

 
4A2.2



Collection System Spill Summary 

 

Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSO) – There were no Sanitary Sewer Overflows reported/verified in the District from 

April 2018 through August 16, 2018. 

 # of spills Year to Date = Zero 

Marin County Spill Summary 

Responsible Agency  Collection System  Total Number 
of SSO 
locations 

Total Vol of 
SSOs(gal) 

Alto Sanitary District  Alto Sanitary District CS  1  75 

Bolinas Community Public Utility District 
(BCPUD) 

Bolinas Community PUD CS  1  1,140 

Ca Dept of Parks & Rec Marin District  Angel Island State Park CS  1  8,000 

Ca Dept of Parks & Rec South Lake Tahoe  China Camp State Park CS  1  750 

Homestead Valley Sanitary District  Homestead Valley Sanitary Dist 
CS 

6  920 

Marin Cnty Sanitary District 5  Marin Csd 5 ‐ Tiburon Plant CS  9  492 

Mill Valley City  Mill Valley City CS  7  1,060 

National Park Service, Golden Gate National 
Recreation Area 

Golden Gate National Rec Area 
CS 

1  20 

Richardson Bay SD‐ Tiburon City  Richardson Bay Sd CS  1  500 

San Rafael Sanitation District  San Rafael SD CS  15  6,578 

Sanitary District #1 of Marin  San Dist #1 of Marin CS  11  1,166 

Sanitary District #2 of Marin  Sanitary District #2 Of Marin CS  2  65 

Sausalito City  Sausalito City CS  2  770 

Sewerage Agency of Southern Marin  Sasm CS  1  450 

Tamalpais Community San Dist  Tamalpais CSD CS  3  397 

       

  Total  62  22,383 

 

Private Sewer Lateral Replacement 

 

 As of 8/16/2018, the District has issued (55) lateral replacement/repair permits.  

 Of the (55) issued, (41) have been completed and approved by the District. Total lateral footage replaced 

to date = 2,412 feet of Private Sewer Laterals Replaced 

 
4A2.3



Lateral Specs & Lateral Inspection Ordinance 

 

Specifications for Lateral Sewers (Updated) 
The Standard Specifications apply to the design and construction of all public sewerage facilities 
and side sewers in the District, whether privately financed and constructed under permits issued 
by the District, or publicly financed and constructed under contract with the District. 
 
The jurisdiction of the District includes the entire sewerage system and its appurtenances from the 
point of connection with the building plumbing to the outfall from the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 
District treatment plant. In cooperation with San Rafael Sanitation District, the District recognized 
the need for a standardized, construction specification requirement for constructing sewer laterals 
within the LGVSD and SRSD service areas. As a result, the District collaborated with San Rafael 
Sanitation District and jointly enlisted the services of Nute Engineering to prepare specifications. 
The document was reviewed by the Board in July 2017 and is currently in a Preliminary Draft 
form. Both SRSD and the District have submitted comments to Nute Engineering and those 
comments were included in the most recent draft dated July 12, 2018.  District staff had no further 
comments and SRSD would like to meet in early September for final review (Date TBD due to 
SRSD staff vacation). 
 
On August 3, 2018, Ross Valley Sanitary District  (RVSD) asked to be included in the 
development of specifications and the most recent draft was then forwarded to them for 
comments on 8/3/18. RVSD was initially asked to participate but declined. Due to recent 
developments, however, they have reconsidered. 
 
 
 
Lateral Inspection Ordinance 
The Lateral Inspection Ordinance has been reviewed and reconstructed to more closely 
resemble those of other local Sanitary Districts and, specifically, RVSD and East Bay Mud. The 
Ordinance has been submitted to District counsel for review on August 8, 2018.   

 
4A2.4



CityWorks Implementation  
 
On July 2, 2018, the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Collections Department officially transitioned from 

the use of OASIS software tracking system to CityWorks, GIS based software program. This has been a 

highly anticipated change for the Department and District, which began nearly two years ago.  

 

CityWorks differs from its predecessor in that it is a web‐based, Computerized Maintenance Management 

Software (CMMS) program which allows Collection’s Department Staff to access a GIS mapping systems in 

the field. No longer do they need to blindly flip through hundreds of paper work‐orders to find their next 

task, moving back and forth throughout the District with limited efficiency. The CityWorks software allows 

them to access a District map (via iPad), which shows all of the “open work orders” which need to be 

completed. 

 

Example: Figure 1 ‐ Work Order Form                              Figure 2 – GIS map with location of Work Orders 

                            
 

 

 

 

    

 
4A2.5



   CityWorks Implementation  
 

An iPad has been issued to each crew, Camera and Maintenance, and they are “synced” multiple times a day, 
typically done morning, lunch and end of day. The syncing process updates the issued work orders for their 
crew, with a focus on working in a centralized area. Once in the field, staff completes a work order with the 
touch of a single button and that information is then stored until their next “sync”. From here, the Collection 
System Manager must review and approve all the work orders completed and/or created before they can be 
“closed”. Because CityWorks is a Maintenance Management Software, tasks such as Service Requests (incident 
reports), lateral inspections, vehicle safety inspections, and asset repair requests are all tracked using the 
software.  

 

DESKTOP VIEW (OPEN WORKORDERS ‐ SCREENSHOT) 

 

 
4A2.6



CityWorks Implementation 

Since the implementation of the CityWorks software, our efficiency in maintaining the District’s collection 
system has improved drastically. As the table below illustrates, in the past 34 days, Collection crew members 
have been very busy. 

 

 

From 2008 to 2016, our highest annual footage recorded was 579,656 feet or 113 miles.  At our current pace, 
the Collection Crews will maintain approximately 1,110,000+ feet or 212 miles in a calendar year. That means 
we will make it through the District’s entire collection system TWICE. 

EXAMPLE:  District Map (Collection Manager Desktop View) – Blue Crosses are completed W/O’s 

 

Crew
No. Work Orders 

Completed Task Completed Total Footage

Maintenance (Gill/Cardenas) 223 Clean (Flush) 39,633

Maintenance (Gill/Cardenas) 23 Rootct (Rodding) 5,462

Camera (Buchholz/Fernandes) 223 CJET (Flush) 48,091

Total 469 93,186

July 2, 2018 thru August 16, 2018

 
4A2.7



CNG Camera/Flusher Truck 
  

The Freightliner CNG Combo Camera/Flusher Truck repairs have been completed and the truck is back in 
service. The improvements are as follows: 

 The overall length has been shortened by 42” 

 The round water tanks have been  replaced with the appropriate 1,000 gallon square tanks 

 The camera inspection enclosure was replaced with a new higher quality, TPD fabricated office. 

 

 

 

 
4A2.8



CNG Camera/Flusher Truck 

 

Inside office 

  

Rear View of New Office 

 

 
4A2.9



I. Account Summary: Bank and Investment Accounts

July 31, 2018 June 30, 2018
Change from 

Previous Month

Summary of Bank and Investment Accounts
Bank of Marin

Operating 233,052$            117,324$            115,728$            
Operating Sweep 364,201              498,190              (133,989)             
Zero Balance 107,550              203,586              (96,036) 
Liquid Savings 1,036,095           1,474,389           (438,294)             
Private Sewer Lateral Rehab 169,379              169,372              7 
Surcharge-Marin Lagoon 118,045              118,030              15 
Surcharge-Captains Cove 25,893 25,886 7 
Connection Fee 42,995 38,414 4,581 
Capital Project Reserve Fund 2,246,324           2,246,196           128 

Petty cash 800 900 (100) 
Investment Accounts

Debt Service Reserve-Recycled Water 586,886              586,886              - 
Debt Service Reserve-SRF Loan 294,054              294,054              - 
Local Agency Investment Fund 20,875,824         20,781,281         94,543 

Cash and Investments 26,101,098$       26,554,508$       (453,410)$           

II. Account Activity for Bank of Marin Accounts

Bank of Marin operating account activity is for paying regular operating expenses of the District.  Funds are 
transferred from the Liquid Savings to the Operating account as needed. The Local Agency Investment Fund
is currently earning interest at 1.9%.

Statement of Compliance:
The investments accounts are invested in compliance with the District's investment policy, adopted at the 
February 23, 2017  Board meeting and California Government Code Section 53600. In addition, the District does 

have the financial ability to meet  its cash flow requirements for the next six months.

Prepared by: Susan McGuire Reviewed by: Chris DeGabriele
Susan McGuire, CPA Administrative Services Manager Chris DeGabriele, PE Interim General Manager

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District
Treasurer's Report - Operating and Investment Accounts

For the month of July 2018

Accounts Summary

S:\ACCOUNTING\Monthly Report\2018\Cash balances.xlsx

Agenda item 4A3
August 23, 2018

4A3.1



I. Summary of Bond Accounts and Cumulative Activities Since Inception

Starting 
Balance 

4/28/2017

Total 
Activities 

Since 
Inception

Ending 
Balance 

7/31/2018

1 Bond Project Fund 41,000,000$ (719,298)$    (a) 40,280,702$ 
2 Cost of Issuance Fund 193,121        (193,111)      10 
3 Bond Payment Fund - 103 103 

Total 41,193,121$ (912,306)$    40,280,815$ 

(a) Funds drawn to reimburse project costs were transferred to the Capital Project

Reserve Fund.

II. Accounts Details for the month ended July 31, 2018

1 Bond Project Fund
Beginning Balance July 1, 2018 40,090,470$ 
Interest income from Local Area Investment Fund (LAIF)

estimated annual yield of 1.9% 190,232        

Ending Project Fund Balance at July 31, 2018 40,280,702$ 

2 Cost of Issuance Fund
Beginning Balance July 1, 2018 10$               
Funds transferred to Bond Payment Fund for scheduled

principal and interest payment - 
Interest income from US Bank estimated to be

 an annual yield of 2.0% - 

Ending Cost of Issuance Fund Balance at July 31, 2018 10$               

3 Bond Payment Fund
Beginning Balance July 1, 2018 103$             
Funds transferred to pay the scheduled principal and

interest payment due - 
Interest income from US Bank estimated to be

 a 2.0% for annual yield - 

Ending Bond Payment Fund Balance at July 31, 2018 103$             

Accounts Summary

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District
Treasurer's Report - 2017 Revenue Bonds

For the month of July 2018

S:\ACCOUNTING\Monthly Report\2018\Cash balances.xlsx

4A3.2



 
4A4.1



 
4A4.2



 
4A4.3



 
4A4.4



       AGENDA ITEM   4B1-4B8 
       DATE               August 23, 2018 

 
8/23/2018 BOARD REPORTS 

 

 

Agenda Item 4B1 
 

Human Resources Subcommittee 
□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 
□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 
 Verbal Report 
□ Presentation 

Agenda Item 4B2 
 

LAFCO 
 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 
□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 
 Verbal Report 
□ Presentation 

Agenda Item 4B3 
 

Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek Watershed Council 
 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 
□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 
 Verbal Report 
□ Presentation 

Agenda Item 4B4 
JPA Local Task Force on Solid and Hazardous Waste 

 

□ Separate item to be distributed at Board meeting 
□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 
 Verbal Report 
□ Presentation 

Agenda Item 4B5 

NBWA 
□ Separate item to be distributed at Board meeting 
□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 
 Verbal Report 
□ Presentation 

Agenda Item 4B6 
NBWRA/North Bay Water 

 

□ Separate item to be distributed at Board meeting 
□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 
 Verbal Report 
□ Presentation 

Agenda Item 4B7 
Engineering Subcommittee 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 
□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 
 Verbal Report 
□ Presentation 

Agenda Item 4B8 
 

Other Reports – Murray – CASA Air, Climate Change and Energy Workgroup Meeting 
□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 
 Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 
□ Verbal Report 
□ Presentation 
 

 
4B1-4B8.1



 
4B8.1



 
4B8.2



AGENDA ITEM_____5A________________ 
DATE               8/23/2018_________________ 

BOARD MEMBER 
 MEETING ATTENDANCE REQUEST

Date:___________Name:__________________________________________________ 

I would like to attend the __________________________________________Meeting 

of _____________________________________________________________________ 

To be held on the ______ day of ___________ from ________ a.m. / p.m. and 

returning on _______day of ___________ from  _________ a.m. / p.m. 

Actual meeting date(s):____________________________________________________ 

Purpose of Meeting:______________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________ 

Frequency of Meeting: ____________________________________________________ 

Estimated Costs of Travel (if applicable):____________________________________ 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

Please submit to the District Administrative Assistant, no later than 2:00 p.m. on the 
Friday prior to the Board Meeting.  

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
For Office Use Only 

Request was □Approved  □Not Approved at the Board Meeting held on __________. 

 
5A.1



 
5A1.1



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2018\Agenda Packets 2018\08232018\Agenda Item - Board Requests.docx 

8/23/2018 

BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

REQUESTS Agenda Item 5B 
□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting
□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting
 Verbal Report 
□ Presentation

 
5B.1



 
6.1



 
6.2



 
6.3



 
6.4



 
6.5



 
6.6



 
6.7



 
6.8



 
6.9



 
6.10



 
6.11



 
6.12



 
6.13



 
6.14



 
6.15



 
6.16



 
6.17



 
6.18


	agenda08232018
	2A Board Minutes 07262018
	2B Warrant List for August 9 and August 23 2018
	2C Board Compensation for July 2018
	2D Core Utilities IT Support and Maintenance Contract FY 2018-19
	2E Approve Award of Contract for Sewer Main Rehabilitation 2018 to KJ Woods
	2F Approve Award of Contract for Plant Improvements 2018 to GEI
	2G Biogas Energy Recovery System BERS Dedication
	2H Resolution  2018-2136 Confirming report on Sewer Service charges
	2I Resolution 2018-2137 Conflict of Interest Code and Update
	2J Resolution 2018-2138 Approving Board Policy B-50
	2K Application of Allocation of Capacity for APN 180-171-29, 800 Upper Road & Will Serve Letter
	ADP93F9.tmp
	Re: Will–Serve Letter


	2L Approve Amendment 2 - ArcSine Engineering Rebid Services for the STPRWE Project
	3 LGVSD GASB 75 Report FYE 06.30.18
	4A1 Agenda Item -Interim General Manager Report
	4A2 Collections Department Progress Report 28-23-18
	4A3 Treasurers report July 2018
	4A4 General Manager's Recruitment Brochure Final
	4B1-4B8 Agenda Item - Board Reports8-23-2018
	4B8 Other Reports - Murray CASA Workgroup Meeting
	5A Board Member Meeting Attendance Request8-23-2018
	5A1 Board Requests Murray CASA Asset Management
	5B Agenda Item - Board Requests
	6 Various Articles and Misc Dist Correspondence



